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Chair:  Good evening and welcome to the final Wednesday night HLPA meeting of 2011, which will be a review of the housing law developments in 2011.  First of all, most of you will have received notices last month advising that our Chair, Vivien Gambling, has tendered her resignation from 5 October 2011.  Nominations were called for a new Chair for the period from November 2011 to March 2014 and there was no need for a secret ballot on this occasion as I am pleased to announce that Giles Peaker from Anthony Gold Solicitors was elected unopposed.  Congratulations to our new Chair.  
I have also been asked to mention very briefly the Housing Law Conference 2011 which will take place on 14 December at the Royal College of Surgeons in Lincoln’s Fields.  Highlights this year include keynote addresses from Sir Stephen Sedley, Andrew Arden QC and, of course, Jan Luba QC.  And, if that was not enough, you will also get seminars on crucial areas affecting housing including housing funding cases, housing and the Equalities Act, calculating and negotiating quantum in disrepair cases, unlawful eviction, homelessness reviews, procedure and suitability.  If that was not enough at the end of a long day, what better way to relax than by enjoying a glass of wine at the social which takes place after the conference.  

Coming back to this evening, has everyone had an opportunity to read the minutes of the last meeting on 23 September and, if so, are there any corrections?  If not, I will introduce you to our two Speakers tonight, John Gallagher and Annette Cafferkey.  John is a principal solicitor with Shelter and has been specialising in housing and homelessness for over 20 years.  Annette was called to the Bar in 1995 and moved to Arden Chambers in 2001 where she specialises in housing, landlord and tenant, property, public and educational law.  As you will have seen, both of our speakers have produced excellent notes and because their handouts are so detailed they will probably not have time to address all issues in any great detail, but I am sure they will highlight specific key points.  We will take questions at the end on their papers as well as other issues within the broader remit of housing law.  

Annette Cafferkey:  Good evening everyone.  It is very nice to be here, it is quite strange actually, in a way, standing here because I have been coming to these meetings for about 15 years and so far managed to avoid being on this side.  But anyway, here I am doing a housing law update.  As you can see, I am covering homelessness, human rights cases and some landlord and tenant cases; John is going to be doing possession and possession procedure, housing benefit, eligibility cases and some cases on housing outside the Housing Act and also a case about a houseboat.  Because the last meeting was on homelessness law I decided to start with homelessness cases again.  There have been a handful of cases since the last meeting which, to me, are quite interesting for various different reasons which I have set out in my notes.
The first one is Mitu v LB Camden, a pretty straight forward homelessness case.  Mr Mitu applied to the authority for accommodation and the original decision came back that he was not considered to be in priority need and he was also considered to be intentionally homeless.  The result being, of course, that the authority just owed a duty to provide advice and assistance.  He requested a review and the review officer decided that he was not in priority need but that he was not intentionally homeless; the result of that being that the same duty to provide advice and assistance was still owed but also it raised the power with the authority to provide accommodation if they so chose to do.  The case was appealed to the County Court. The backdrop against the case was that there was a dispute about the medical evidence in relation to the priority need issue.  One of the points that arose was whether there had been a deficiency or irregularity in the original decision. It was said that because the original decision-maker, the initial officer, had decided that he was intentionally homeless and the review officer had decided that he was not, the original decision was obviously deficient in relation to that issue.  On the second appeal to the Court of Appeal that argument succeeded.  Lord Justice Lewison commented that if the review officer considered that the original decision-maker was wrong on any important aspect of the case, such as intentionality, then the review officer had identified a deficiency for the purposes of Regulation 8(2) and should have sent out a “minded to” letter which he had not done and so therefore the appeal was allowed on that basis.  
In handing down his judgement, Lord Justice Lewison expressed the view that in relation to Regulation 8(2) a literal approach should be taken to that Regulation so that if a case falls within the ambit of that Regulation then it must always be applied.  Now that was a new approach, really, to Regulation 8(2) because prior to that a purposive approach had been taken.  The leading case in relation to the purposive approach is Hall v Wandsworth - I have set the comments out there from Lord Justice Carnwarth in that case, where he says deficiency “simply means ‘something lacking’ which something had to be of sufficient importance to the fairness of the procedure to justify an extra procedural safeguard”.  So, even if there had been a problem with the original decision it had to be material, ultimately, before the review officer should apply the “minded to” letter in Regulation 8(2).  On the next page in my notes, you will see that I have referred there to Makisi, Yosief, Nagi v Birmingham CC which was decided in March of this year and again Lord Justice Etherton took an extremely purposive approach to Regulation 8(2) in that case.  The reason why I referred to Mitu is really that Lord Justice Lewison has taken what appears to be a different approach so, in my mind, has sparked a debate about whether there should be a literal approach to the application of Regulation 8(2) or a purposive approach.  As matters stand at the moment, the weight of authority is in favour of the latter but it would appear that there is the beginning of a dispute in relation to that aspect so I have mentioned that case for that reason. 

The next case was another recent decision, Bubb v Wandsworth LBC, again quite a straight forward decision.  The authority initially acknowledged a full housing duty in favour of Ms Bubb in March 2008.  About 18 months later, in August 2009 they made her a final offer under Section 193 and wrote to her setting out that they had made her a final offer and advising that she had the right to request a review in relation to that offer.  It turned out that Ms Bubb said that she did not get that letter although she did manage to go and look at the property by having been put on notice as to the offer, through telephone conversations.  She sought a review and then appealed to the County Court.  At the Court of Appeal level it was contended that the County Court judge should have decided for himself, as question of fact, whether Ms Bubb had actually received the August 2009 letter.  The receipt of that letter was important because a letter of that type must be received if the duty is to be discharged, but it was held no, that it is enough for the review officer to form a view on that issue and if that decision as to whether the letter was received was reasonably arrived at by the review officer then the appeal court does not have any jurisdiction under Section 204 to resolve a dispute of fact, of that nature.  In that case it was also argued whether there should be oral evidence in relation to matters of that type. The Court of Appeal held that oral evidence was not necessary in this type of case either.
The next case is R (Konodyba) RB Kensington & Chelsea, again recently decided, in the High Court, I think in October of this year.  This is one of those cases which I would refer to, speaking for myself, as “there but for the grace of God go I”.  It deals with the obligation about full and frank disclosure.  Essentially, the applicant applied on three occasions for accommodation to the local authority.  On the first occasion no duty was acknowledged because it was said that the applicant was not eligible.  On her second application a similar response was made by the local authority and that was the subject of an appeal to the Court of Appeal.  The second application was still the subject of a permission application for permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal when the applicant made a third application for accommodation to the local authority.  The authority refused to entertain the third application on the basis that the second one was still outstanding because it was the subject of court proceedings, essentially. They also refused to provide interim accommodation.  There was quite a bit of correspondence between the parties, during which the applicant was evicted from her current accommodation and after a number of weeks a judicial review claim was issued and an application made for interim accommodation on a without notice basis.  Prior to the issue of the claim, one of the reasons why the local authority had resisted providing interim accommodation was because they asserted that the applicant had other accommodation available to her in Bishops Stortford which was an assured shorthold tenancy subject to a possession order, which had not been enforced.  So the authority refused to provide accommodation, on the basis that the applicant had accommodation available to her.
In the application for interim accommodation issued in the High Court there was reference to that accommodation in the underlying documents, i.e. the correspondence that had passed between the parties which correspondence was referred to in the list of essential reading.  There was no reference to the Bishops Stortford accommodation in the statement of grounds or in the statement of facts relied on. Because there was no reference to that accommodation in the actual statement of facts or the grounds it was said that there had been a failure to make and full and frank disclosure on the without notice application for accommodation.  This contention was accepted by the Court.  One can see, therefore, that there is quite a high requirement when it comes to full and frank disclosure, as I am sure we are all aware, but this case is very much a useful reminder of how detailed you have to be on certain occasions in relation to that requirement.  In any event, in that case the authority applied to discharge the interim order and one of the grounds they relied on was a failure to make sufficient disclosure on the original application, which was successfully made out.  In the transcript of the judgement towards the end there is discussion as to whether the costs order should be adjourned off to consider whether the authority wanted to make an application for wasted costs order.  That case really is a useful reminder and a useful warning to us all.
The next case I think probably was discussed at the last meeting; it is again a homelessness case where the authority decided that the applicant was not homeless because she had an implied license to occupy her family home.  It is Abdullah v Westminster CC and I have referred to it in paragraph 4 of my notes.  The circumstances of that case were, essentially, that Mrs Abdullah lived with her husband and her mother-in-law in rented accommodation.  The joint tenants on the tenancy were her husband and her mother-in-law - Mrs Abdullah did not have a legal interest in the property.  Her mother-in-law invited her to leave the property.  Accordingly, Mrs Abdullah applied to the authority as homeless.  The authority concluded that she was not homeless because she could remain in the family home by virtue of Section 30 of the Family Law Act 1996.  At the County Court and in the Court of Appeal it was argued that Section 30 of the Family Law Act did not apply in circumstances where the joint tenancy was not held by the wife but was in fact held by the husband and another party, in this instance the mother-in-law.  But that was held to not be correct and that, in fact, Section 30 would apply in circumstances where one of the joint tenants was not a spouse.  So that is quite a useful clarification of that point in relation to that type of matter. 

I have also referred to some of the amendments that are going to be made to the homelessness provisions under Part 7 by way of the Localism Act, as it now is, I am told, having receiving Royal Assent yesterday.  The amendments are in relation to the discharge of a Section 193 (2) duty – it will be possible for this to be met by the provision of private rented sector accommodation.  The agreement from the applicant does not need to be in place, as long as the tenancy is provided for a minimum of 12 months.  I am not clear when these changes will actually come into effect.  I think most of them are being brought into effect by commencement order so we do not actually know the actual dates yet.
Moving on to paragraph 6, I have referred to the R (Babakandi) v Westminster CC case.  It seems to me to be one of the only cases on allocations in this last year.  Again, I think it was probably discussed at the last meeting.  Some quite useful points were raised in it, however, in particular as to whether the suspension from bidding if you are in rent arrears is lawful.  It was quite useful to raise that as an argument but unhelpfully it was decided that suspension was lawful in that case even though Westminster had not specified what exceptional circumstances might lift the suspension.  So I will not go through the detail of that case; I will just leave you to have a look at my notes because I think it was covered at the last meeting.  But it is there for reference should you want to look at it.  

Again, in paragraphs 7 and 8 of my notes, I have referred to the changes that would be brought in by virtue of the Localism Act.  The Localism Act will introduce a new Section 166A which will reintroduce the right for authorities to decide what classes of persons are, or are not, “qualifying persons” for the purposes of an authority’s allocation scheme: it will be interesting to see how that pans out in practice.  Part 6 is to do with transfers not being allocations, as they are the moment with local authorities; that is going to be extended private registered providers of social housing and that will be by virtue of the new Section 159(4A) which I have referred to there at paragraph 8.

I will now move on to Human Rights and Public Law Defences.  The first case I have listed is the recent decision of Holmes v Westminster CC which was decided in the High Court very recently.  I have put that in the notes because it seems to me to be the first case on proportionality decided after Pinnock and Powell, the first case that we have had reported on appeal.  It is quite a useful case to look at because, essentially, in this case a summary possession order was made even though the defendant had put a defence in, by way of response to the claim.  The upshot of this case is that you have to have a seriously arguable defence, either on human rights or on public law, and it must be quite strong at an early stage if you are going to avoid a summary possession order; that seems to be the message coming from this decision, in particular.  That said, of course, things vary from County Court to County Court, as we shall see when I mention some of the other cases that are coming up next year.  Just looking very briefly at the facts of Holmes v Westminster CC the appellant had been granted a non-secure tenancy pursuant to Section 193(2) of the Housing Act, a homeless application.  The authority subsequently decided to discharge that duty and brought possession proceedings.  Fortunately solicitors’ representations went in and the authority changed their mind about discharging their duty.  The solicitors made further representations and asked the authority to discontinue the possession proceedings.  Unfortunately, however, shortly after they wrote to that effect, the housing officers in relation to the property said that Mr Holmes had assaulted them and, in the light of that allegation, the authority decided to press on with the possession proceedings.  The claim came on for hearing and a summary possession order was made even though a defence had been filed.  Now, in the defence itself no dispute in relation to the underlying factual allegation of assault was set out; perhaps it should have been because, ultimately, what was said on appeal was that the judge in the County Court had been right to deal with the case summarily because it was not plain on the papers that there was a seriously arguable defence before the judge at first instance.  Various other arguments were also run in that case, in relation to anti-social behaviour and also in relation to the equality duty under Section 149(A) of the 1995 Act as it was then; obviously it has changed since.  But really the same message comes across in relation to all three points that were pursued.  Nothing was put forward strongly enough at the initial stages.  The message is that, on your first hearings, you must get as much information together as you can, which can sometimes be difficult as we all know, and put in quite a strong case in order to meet the risk of a summary possession order being made.  So that is the message coming out of that case, in my mind; I would refer you all to it because it is quite a useful read to see why the Court decided what it did in that case.
The next two cases I have referred to in the notes are Barnsley MBC v Norton, which I have compared with a case from last year Barber v Croydon.  In both of those cases public law defences were run.  The result in each of the two cases was very different, however. What the Court has said in relation to public law defences in the two cases also differs quite markedly.  Firstly, Barnsley MBC v Norton, the defendant had been employed by the local authority as a school caretaker.  He had been provided with accommodation tied to his employment; he lived in that accommodation with his wife and his daughter who had cerebral palsy and also epilepsy.  The defendant lost his job and the authority began possession proceedings in relation to the property.  Mr Norton defended the claim on the basis that the authority failed to have regard to Section 49A of the Disability Discrimination Act, the equality duty under that Act, as it was then, and at the same time he applied for accommodation as a homeless person under Part 7.  The circuit judge made a possession order but in doing so he specifically found that the authority had failed to have regard to the daughter’s disability when they made their decision to seek possession.  Mr Norton appealed to the Court of Appeal: the equality duty point was looked at very closely.  It was held in the Court of Appeal that in fact the local authority had breached the equality duty – there had been a failure, in that respect.  So, theoretically, a public law defence had been made out.  However, the Court went on to say that had the defence been a judicial review type case, had Mr Norton issued a judicial review claim challenging the decision to seek possession, the Administrative Court would have been able to say, well, hold-on-a-second, you made an application under Part 7 and we can rely on the authority to discharge their duties under the1996 Act.  If that is the case then we wouldn’t have to give you any relief, if this was a judicial review claim.  By analogy, the Court of Appeal said in the County Court a similar approach could be taken so in Mr Norton’s case, whilst a breach of the equality duty was established and in theory a public law defence was established, because the authority could be relied upon to discharge their Part 7 obligations under the 1996 Housing Act there was no need to give any relief.  The appeal was dismissed so the possession order remained intact.  It was said in Norton that if a breach of Article 8 had been established the results would have been the same so whilst the Norton case is about equality duties the Court does express the view that the result would be exactly the same if a breach of Article 8 was established.  
Now, essentially what the Court is saying is that they have discretion; that even if you establish a public law defence or you establish an Article 8 defence they still have a discretion as to what they are going to do by way of relief.  If you look at the case last year in Barber v Croydon a different result came about.  In the Barber v Croydon case, I am sure you are all fairly familiar with this case by now, it was established that the local authority had failed to comply with anti-social behaviour policy when they decided to seek possession against Mr Barber.  The court concluded that this gave him an absolute defence to the possession claim because he had an expectation that the authority would comply with their policy but they failed to do so and therefore they were not entitled to a possession order.  So at paragraph 12 of my notes I have just summarised what the Court of Appeal said in the Barber case.  On appeal to the Court of Appeal the appeal was allowed because it was “unreasonable for [Croydon] to proceed without applying the Council’s policy on vulnerable people”.  Under the terms of their own policy it was incumbent on Croydon to consider such matters; this had not been done before serving the notice to quit or at any subsequent time” before they actually proceeded to trial.  The claim for possession was therefore dismissed.  “The consequence of Mr Barber having established a gateway (b) (public law) defence is that the action fails and should be dismissed.”   What you have, therefore, is that in one case last year the Court of Appeal saying that if you establish a public law defence the claim should be dismissed but a year later, they appear to be saying (in Norton) is -  “no, it is a matter of discretion”.  Which of the two is right remains far from clear but there, plainly, is a point that needs to be the subject of further argument.
Human rights.  What is coming up in the pipeline, as I have called it in my notes?  There are three cases listed for hearing together next year, the date is yet to be fixed. I have set them all out in my notes.  The first one I have mentioned is West Kent Housing Association v Haycraft.  The Housing Association is the claimant landlord in this case and it is a “starter tenancy”.  Permission was secured at an oral hearing; Lady Justice Arden gave permission for the appeal to proceed - there is a transcript available in relation to that permission hearing.  It is plain that permission was given reluctantly but ultimately Lady Justice Arden formed the view that perhaps the circuit judge had not dealt with the issue of proportionality correctly and that also this was an RSL case, as she called it.  In her view it must be arguable whether a registered social landlord is to be treated differently to a local authority for the purposes of Article 8 and she gave permission to appeal.  These seem to be the issues arising out of that case: it will be heard probably around March time of next year, I imagine.
Linked with that case and being heard, I think, consecutively is the next case, Corby BC v Scott, an introductory tenancy case where the claim was dismissed.  The claim was brought because the tenant was in rent arrears, had a poor payment history and there were also allegations of anti-social behaviour.  The day before the hearing all the rent arrears were paid off.  The defendant turned up on the day listed for trial not having filed any witness statement evidence in response to the local authority’s claim.  Counsel appearing for the local authority submitted to the judge that she should deal with the case on a summary basis but the judge refused and stated that she wanted to move straight on to hear the evidence even though there was no witness statement from the defendant.  In any event, the defendant went on to explain that she had been the victim of a very serious criminal offence which had impeded her ability to pay her rent on time and matters such as that.  Ultimately the judge concluded that there were exceptional circumstances and that she was not going to make a possession order.  In giving judgment in that case the Judge expressed the view that had the tenancy been a secure one she would have made a possession order but she would have suspended it.  The case is going on appeal.  The issues being raised on appeal are, I have summarised them there at paragraph 14: how should the court deal with cases on a summary basis?  The next issue arising is, given that the judge said that she would have made a possession order, was she entitled to dismiss the case?  And the third issue is, do the circumstances relied on by the defendant in defending the claim have to be linked to the reasons that the authority is seeking possession? There is a relevancy argument going on in that case as well.  So that should also be quite interesting when the judgement finally comes out on the appeal in that case because it looks like it will provide some quite detailed guidance in relation to Article 8.
The last case which has also been listed with the other two cases is Solihull MBC v (1) Conolly and (2) Owen.  This is my case where I appeared for the defendant in Birmingham County Court. The facts are very straight forward.  It involved a couple with two children.  Miss Conolly, the first defendant, was the sole secure tenant of the property.  She left her partner, Mr Owen, the second defendant, and took the two children with her and went to go and live with somebody else.  The authority served a notice to quit on her and then, once that had expired, served a notice to quit on Mr Owen and shortly thereafter commenced possession proceedings.  Meanwhile there was a dispute between Mr Owen and Miss Conolly about what was going to happen to the children; they were living with Mum but Mr Owen was not happy about that and he issued proceedings in the family court applying for residence order in respect of his two children.  When the possession claim came on for hearing the family proceedings still remained undecided. CAFCASS had been directed to prepare a report in relation to the children.  So when we arrived at court all of this was raised with the trial judge and an application was made for the possession claim to be adjourned pending the decision in the family court in relation to the question of where the children would live and who with.  The judge was not persuaded to do that it; he sent both counsel out of court to talk about the case and to draft up agreed facts to see if we could make any progress having agreed some facts.  One of the matters that the authority agreed was that if Mr Owen did obtain a residence order in respect of either of his children or both of them, this might make a difference as to whether they would continue to proceed to evict him from the property.  They did not say it definitely would, or what they would definitely do, they just said it might make a difference.  The parties returned to court. It was then said to the judge that in light of the indication from the authority that the residence of the children might be relevant as to what the authority would do with regard to seeking possession, the court should definitely adjourn the claim for possession.  The court refused to adjourn and made an outright order.  The judge concluded his judgement by saying there were no exceptional circumstances and that Article 8 was not even engaged.  So the matter is going on appeal.  The main issue, really, is where there are two sets of proceedings, family proceedings and possession proceedings, both concerning the family home should the possession proceedings be adjourned off so that it can first be determined what is happening to the children, to see what is happening to the family home before the court makes a decision in relation to possession because all of these issues, where the children live, what is happening to the family home, are all relevant to Article 8.  Without information about the children and with whom they will live the court cannot weigh proportionality for Article 8 purposes because it does not have full information, and so should adjourn off the possession claim to await the outcome of the family proceedings.  That is what is being argued in the Solihull case.  We will have to see how we get on with that if it comes on for hearing because, of course, much depends on the family proceedings in the meantime.
So those are the three cases which are listed for hearing next year.  I know also that Justin Bates has another case that has permission to go to the Court of Appeal but I am not sure of the name of it.  What he is arguing in that case is that Article 8 applies to a private landlord and tenancy situation so watch this space for a decision about that coming from the Court of Appeal at some point next year.

Moving on to landlord and tenant cases, tenancy deposits, Sharples, Godfrey and Mexfield and water charges, also, I am finishing with a case about plaster: there is a change of law on that point.  Tenancy deposits.  Plainly the Localism Act is going to change tenancy deposit schemes quite substantially, thankfully, but I am sure you are all aware now of the Gladehurst decision that was decided, I think, in May of this year which rendered the tenancy scheme provisions even more useless than they had been rendered already by Tiensia.  Essentially, what was decided in Gladehurst was that the financial penalties set out in the Act under Section 214 of the Housing Act 2004 do not apply if the tenancy has already been brought to an end.  In that case the tenant applied for relief under Section 214 of the 2004 Act after the tenancy had been surrendered. It was held that if the tenancy had come to an end then the court did not have any jurisdiction to make any of the orders against the landlord for failing to secure the deposit in the appropriate way.  

I have referred in paragraph 17 to Suupere v Nice & Nice which is a High Court case but certainly worth looking at if you are still dealing with tenancy deposit cases.  In that case it was said that Gladehurst would not apply if the tenancy had not been lawfully terminated so query whether that is actually right but that is what was said in that case.  I have set the facts of the case out very briefly in paragraph 17, Mr and Mrs Nice granted the appellant an assured shorthold tenancy at a rent of £300 a month in January 2009.  The appellant paid a deposit which was not secured in an authorised scheme until further down the line, in July 2009.  Mr and Mrs Nice then began possession proceedings against the tenant which were defective.  They did not proceed; they were the subject of a stay.  On 10 August, however, the tenant issued a claim for relief under the 2004 Act for a financial penalty, three times the tenancy deposit from her landlords.  She left the property on 14 August 2009, four days later, alleging that there had been unlawful harassment.  On appeal Mr and Mrs Nice relied on Gladehurst and said that the tenancy had come to an end and that therefore no order could be made under Section 214 but what it was held that because it was not clear whether the tenancy had terminated at the time the tenant issued her claim Gladehurst did not apply.  Do have a look at that case when dealing with tenancy deposits because it goes in a different direction to Gladehurst and could, potentially, be quite useful.
Paragraph 18, I have just referred to Potts v Densley there; that has been overtaken by Gladehurst but goes in the opposite direction to Gladehurst.  It is interesting by point of contrast really more than anything else.

Paragraph 19, obviously, I have flagged up that all of this is going to be the subject of change, thankfully, and that we might get an effective tenancy deposit scheme as a result.

Moving on to Sharples v Places for People Homes Ltd; Godfrey v A2 Dominion Homes Ltd, this is debt relief orders and bankruptcy orders.  Both of the appellants in this case had been assured tenants and they had both accrued rent arrears and the landlord began possession proceedings.  In Sharples the tenant had been made the subject of a bankruptcy order and Mr Godfrey had entered into a Debt Relief Order.  Both of them argued that the landlord could not bring possession proceedings on rent arrears because that was a remedy in respect of a debt.  The district judge in Sharples was not having any of it and made a possession order.  The district judge, however, refused to make a money judgement in relation to the money claim being of the view that that was probably subject to the bankruptcy proceedings.  In Godfrey however, a possession order and a money judgement was made.  Both of the cases went on appeal to the Court of Appeal where, if you move down the page, three arguments were pursued.  It was contended that possession was a remedy in respect of a debt, was the first argument.  In relation to both cases it was said that arrears could not be said to be lawfully owing if they were subject to bankruptcy proceedings or subject to a Debt Relief Order.  The third argument was that the court had a duty to read the legislation compatibly with the European Convention of Human Rights which precluded the court from making a possession order in circumstances where the defendants found themselves with unmanageable debt.  None of those arguments were accepted by the Court of Appeal; it was held that a possession was not a remedy in respect of a debt, but that the possession and the debt are separate things, essentially.  Debt is a subject of contract whereas possession essentially allows a landlord to recover the use and enjoyment of his property and that is what possession was about.  Also, the Court of Appeal concluded that there was no obligation to construe the legislation compatibly because there was no reason why tenants who could not manage their debts should be in a better position than those that could.  What was said, however, was that if a claim was brought on a discretionary ground for rent arrears, the court could not suspend the possession order on terms that the defendant pay back the arrears together with current rent so this is the point that needs to be remembered, essentially.  The possession order could be made and it could be suspended but it can only be suspended by reference to rent as it falls due not rent that is already the subject of a debt.  So there cannot be any terms and conditions in relation to arrears where there is a bankruptcy order in place and where there is a Debt Relief Order.  
Berrisford v Mexfield Housing Co-operative Ltd, a decision that came out last week in the Supreme Court, a very interesting case.  The arguments at the Court of Appeal level and at the Supreme Court level varied quite substantially between the two hearings.  The upshot of this case was that the defendant ended up with a 90 year term which was quite a good result, albeit subject to the terms and provisions of the contract to which she held it.  The facts are, essentially, as follows.  In December 1993 the claimant entered into what was called an “occupancy agreement” with the defendant which provided that the defendant could occupy the property from 13 December and thereafter from month to month until determined by the terms of that agreement.  The agreement went on to provide that the defendant tenant could terminate the agreement by one month’s writing and/or that the landlord could only terminate the agreement in specified circumstances, such as the defendant being in breach of one of the provisions in the agreement or the defendant ceased to be a member of the housing association or the association itself was dissolved - so only in limited circumstances.  

Now the effect of all of this is, essentially, this: were it not for the restrictions as to when a notice could be served by either party, it would have been a normal periodic tenancy but because Clause 6 restricted the landlord’s entitlement as to when it could serve a notice to quit, that rendered the entire arrangement uncertain which meant that it could not be a tenancy.  Both parties were agreed that there was no tenancy.  The housing association argued that there was a monthly periodic tenancy that could be determined by a notice to quit.  The defendant, however, at the Supreme Court argued that because there was an uncertain term, prior to the 1925 legislation that would have been deemed to be a tenancy for life and then by virtue of Section 149(6) of the Law of Property Act 1925 a tenancy for life was treated as a 90 year term.  That argument succeeded in front of the Supreme Court so Mrs Berrisford ended up with a 90 year term having first of all thought she had started out with a mere “occupancy agreement”.  So a good result for Mrs Berrisford, the one caveat being that the 90 year term was held to be subject to the terms and provisions of the agreement that existed between her and her landlord.  Quite an interesting case in which the arguments between the Court of Appeal stage and the Supreme Court appear to have varied quite considerably.
Rochdale MBC v Dixon; water charges and a tenancy agreement, possession proceedings.  I am sure you are all very familiar with this type of scenario where the authority claim possession on what they call rent arrears but are not really pure rent arrears, the charges relied on are in relation to something else; that is what this case was about, essentially.  In January 2005 the authority agreed that they would collect the water charges for United Utilities who were the water provider for Rochdale in their area.  In order to do so they had to vary the tenancy agreement and obviously had to comply with the Housing Act 1985 in that respect and so had to send out various notices about the proposed variation.  They sent out those notices and the variation came into effect with effect from 1 April 2005.  Now a couple of years later the defendant decided that he was not going to pay his water charges because he was not convinced that they were rent and he did not see that they should be recoverable by means of a threat of eviction, essentially.  The arguments pursued on his behalf were as follows; it was alleged first of all that the agreement between the utilities company and the local authority was ultra vires; it was said that the notice of variation in relation to the change in the tenancy was defective because it did not sufficiently warn the tenants that what the result could be was eviction; thirdly, it was said that the term in the varied tenancy agreement was unfair for the purposes of the Unfair Terms in Consumer Contracts Regulations 1999 and that, lastly, it was contended that it not reasonable to make an order.  All four arguments failed both at first instance and on appeal.  What was said, essentially, was that the preliminary notices that had been sent out about the variation did advise the tenants that they would be collected as rent so whilst it did not say that you could be evicted it did say the charges would be recoverable as though they were rent and that most tenants would have understood the situation in which they were now placed.  It was not held to be ultra vires and, with regard to the Unfair Terms in Consumer Contracts Regulations, what was said is this.  A term which was expressly authorised by a statutory power is unlikely to be unfair. Also reliance was placed on the consultation procedure had been followed - this was something that was likely to render the whole thing fair, ultimately.  There are some comments about the type of circumstances which will work in order to prevent something from being unfair.  But, ultimately, the defence did not work and the water charges were held to be properly recoverable as rent with the result that tenants could be evicted if they failed to pay.
The last case I have referred to is Grand v Gill which is the case about plaster.  I am delighted that there is a change in the law about this because it has been such a nuisance over the years.  A very straightforward case, damages for disrepair which the tenant succeeded with at first instance but did not get varied drainage of the water from the circuit judge.  That award was appealed.  One of the arguments on appeal was that the judge had failed to take into account of all the relevant findings in the expert’s report which including findings about plaster, apparently the expert had found that there had been defective and damaged plaster throughout the property.  It was contended that the landlord was responsible for the repair to the plaster and that an award of damages should have been made in respect of the plaster.  The question on appeal, therefore, was whether plaster could be properly regarded as structure for the purposes of Section 11 of the Landlord and Tenant Act and it was held that it could be.  So there we are; a much more satisfactory result in relation to plaster.  
I will now hand over to John who is going to be talking about possession proceedings, housing benefit, eligibility and housing outside the Housing Acts.

John Gallagher:  Good evening everyone.  As Annette said, I am going to deal with five or six rather disconnected topics.  I may not reach the last section on housing and community care which features a couple of age assessment cases but I would like to select some of the main cases from the first four or five sections.  The first section is on possession proceedings and the first case is a standard issue in possession proceedings; namely what happens when rent or mortgage arrears are paid off?  Does the possession order somehow extinguish, does it lapse, is it discharged?  That was the issue in Zinda v Bank of Scotland Plc.  Mr Zinda was a defendant in mortgage possession proceedings, and a suspended possession order was made on familiar terms, namely, on the basis of current monthly instalments plus, in this case, £96 off the arrears. Subsequently the Bank agreed to capitalise the arrears; they were consolidated and added to the mortgage debt.  What effect did that have?  Well, of course, there were no longer any arrears to be paid under the terms of the order.  Subsequently Mr Zinda fell behind with his current instalments once again.  The Bank of Scotland issued a warrant to enforce the suspended order and he applied to suspend the warrant on the basis that the order itself had lapsed and been extinguished by the consolidation of the arrears.  But the Court of Appeal decided otherwise and said that the terms of the suspension were twofold, on the basis that the defendant continued to pay both the current instalments and the arrears.  Once the arrears were capitalised that part of the order fell away, but it was still a term of the order that Mr Zinda should continue to pay the current monthly instalments.  Once he failed to do that, the order could still be enforced. There was nothing to say it was unenforceable and the warrant could be issued.  The same applies, of course, to rented possession proceedings; once rent arrears are paid off, the order does not cease to have effect unless perhaps it provides for its own discharge.  Some judges will, if requested, and some will even if not requested, put a term in the order that provides that once the arrears are paid off the order shall cease to be enforceable.  That created a problem in the old days of tolerated trespassers; but it is not a problem now and if we think of it, we should ask the judge to do that.  So that is the situation with suspended possession orders.  

I would like then to come on to a string of cases in relation to setting aside orders, and in this context we are concenred particularly with setting aside possession orders.  As we know, Civil Procedure Rule 39.3 permits a party to apply to set aside an order where that party did not attend the trial so long as three conditions are fulfilled.  The three conditions are set out on page 1 of the handout.  They are that (1) the party acted promptly when they found out that an order had been made; (2) they had a good reason for not attending the trial; and (3) they have a reasonable prospect of success at the trial.  Now the case that in some ways triggered this string of decisions is not actually in the notes.  It is a case called Forcelux Ltd v Binnie which dates from a couple of years ago, and that case suggested that a possession claim in the undefended list would not normally be treated as a “trial” for the purposes of CPR 39.3(5).  The word “trial” implies a contested hearing; not the kind of five minutes rough and tumble that we get in the county court on possession days.  So in Forcelux Ltd v Binnie the Court of Appeal said that CPR 39.3(5) did not actually apply to undefended possession cases, but that the court still had a power to set aside possession orders under its general case management powers in CPR 3.  So for a little while we had a field day with set-aside applications because we were not actually subject to the more restrictive rules of CPR 39.3.  What happens, for example, if the defendant does attend the hearing?  There is no duty solicitor or advisor on the day, so they are not aware that they may have a defence to the claim. But they were there at court, so they cannot afterwards use 39.3 to set the order side.  But Forcelux Ltd v Binnie opened up a whole vista of possible new set aside applications under CPR 3 in the interests of the over-riding objective.  

But of course, as soon as one helpful decision comes along, then another one follows soon after to counteract it, and here we have London Borough of Hackney v Findlay, where we see a different bench of the Court of Appeal evidently thinking that Forcelux went too far in marginalising CPR 39.3 in undefended cases.  This was a standard possession case in which an outright order for possession on the ground of rent arrears was made against Mr Findlay, who was a secure tenant, He did not attend the hearing and, initially, the district judge did set aside the order.  The circuit judge agreed, but the Court of Appeal, on Hackney’s appeal, restored the possession order and said that the court should consider both the factors in CPR 39.3 and those in CPR 3.9, which is to do with relief from sanctions.  The Court of Appeal said that CPR 39.3 will normally take precedence over CPR 3 and the court’s general case management powers.  It is not out of the question, though, that we may still be able to use CPR 3 in, for example, a case where a person had a plainly arguable defence that ought to have been put; but they did not know it at the time, they had not had the chance to take advice, and there was no duty advisor to assist them.  Unfortunately I’m not aware of any case that has come along since Findlay in which that argument has been put.  
We then come to a case that deals with the relationship between set-aside applications and appeals, and that is Bank of Scotland Plc v (1) Pereira (2) Pain & Pain.  This was a case concerning a sale and rent back scheme which went wrong, as so many such schemes do.  I will not go into the background facts, but essentially what happened was that Mr and Mrs Pain, who were the original owners of the property, were actually very successful in their defence to the Bank’s proceedings, and they obtained a rescission of the transfer of their home.  They had transferred the house to Miss Pereira under the purported sale and rent back, but having obtained a rescission of that transfer, they were able to resume ownership; a very happy and somewhat unusual outcome for them.  Miss Pereira did not attend the hearing and so it was she who subsequently applied to set aside the order, but she failed.  The Court of Appeal said that there were no grounds to set aside the order; there was evidence that she was aware of the proceedings and she should have been aware of the date of hearing.  Ms Pereira had also applied for permission to appeal out of time against the order as well as to set aside, and the Court said there was no basis for granting permission to appeal either.  At the same time, the Court took the opportunity to set out general guidelines for defendants or for any party who is seeking to disturb an order, and these are set out in the bullet points on page 3 The main thrust of the guidelines is that if a person did not attend the trial and is seeking a new hearing, she/he should normally apply to set aside under CPR 39.3.  So if a party is absent from the trial, that normally points towards an application under 39.3.  If they did attend the trial or did not attend, but without a good reason for not attending, or there has been a delay in making the application so that they cannot claim to have acted promptly, they can still apply for permission to appeal if there are grounds to appeal the decision.  But of course, the difficulty will be that the Court was not seized of the facts or arguments which that party would have liked to put at the hearing and that will always be a problem with appealing or seeking permission to appeal.  The Court of Appeal also said that a person who fails in an application to set aside an order should not normally then be permitted to seek permission to appeal against the original decision.  They can seek permission to appeal against the refusal to set aside, but not against the original decision itself.  
Moving on to other recent cases, Williams v Hinton is a case with a very chequered history which started off as possession proceedings, followed by defence and counter-claim.  It then continued as the tenant Mr Hinton’s counter-claim on its own after he left the premises.  Mr Williams, the landlord, did not attend the hearing on the tenant’s claim and subsequently he applied for permission to appeal.  The Court of Appeal said this was a paradigm case, an obvious case for applying under CPR 39.3 to set aside the order, not for an appeal.  On the facts, however, it appeared that Mr Williams was aware of the trial date; and he had no good reason for his failure to attend. I should say that the landlord was a litigant in person and the courts will make allowances up to a point to assist someone in that position, so in this case the Court of Appeal did consider his application for permission to appeal; but they made it clear that in the future they probably would not because this was an obvious case for a set aside application under CPR 39.3.  
Fineland Investments Ltd v Pritchard is another case with a chequered history.  Suffice it to say, that Ms Pritchard did not attend the possession hearing; she sent a doctor’s note.  A possession order was made in her absence.  She appealed, which was clearly not the correct way to proceed. The judge of the Chancery Division said that there was justification in the court adopting a less rigorous approach despite the fact that Ms Pritchard had not acted promptly because she was a litigant in person.  It had taken her some 7 weeks or so to make her application, but there was no evidence from her GP or anyone else of ill-health that would have prevented her attending the hearing.  It was not enough for her to assert that she was ill and expect the court to take that on trust as a good reason for not attending.  But just in case this was being a little harsh to her, the judge went on to consider the prospects of success and held that there were no reasonable prospects of success.  
So four examples of situations in which attempts were made to set aside or appeal decisions of the court.  The dominant case here is, obviously, Bank of Scotland v Pereira and Pain but it is likely that there will be other cases in future.  I think there may still be something left in Forcelux Ltd v Binnie in those cases where CPR 39.3 does not apply.

Shall we move on then to housing benefit changes?  I am going to go relatively quickly through this topic because Desmond Rutledge dealt with them very comprehensively at our May meeting, but just to remind you of the changes that came into force in April this year.  Those include the change to the basis on which housing benefit, in the form of the local housing allowance, is assessed.  Instead of being the median of private sector rents in the rental area, housing benefit levels are now set at the 30th percentile of market rents in the private rented sector.  So housing benefit is only going to cover the lowest 30% of the private sector market in any broad rental market area. This will obviously create difficulties when the newly diminished homelessness duty under the Localism Act is in force, whereby local authorities will be able to discharge their duty by the provision of suitable, i.e. affordable, private rented sector accommodation.  We are entitled to be sceptical about how much private rented sector accommodation there is out there that can be used to discharge the duty at affordable rents when the local housing allowance will only pay for the lowest 30% of the private rented market.  

What other changes are there?  There are the caps on the amount of local housing allowance that will be payable for different sizes of property: these are set out at the top of page 5.  This is mainly an inner London issue, as these maximum amounts will probably be sufficient to pay for most accommodation in other parts of the country, possibly not in one or two other metropolitan areas, but nevertheless it is a very important issue in the affected areas.  Again, there is now no longer a 5 bedroom rate; that has been abolished.  The maximum rate of local housing allowance now is the 4 bedroom rate.  

There is some transitional protection for those claimants who were already in receipt of housing benefit on 1 April of this year.  Broadly, the caps and the reduction to the 30% percentile do not take effect until 9 months from the first anniversary of their claim that falls after 1 April 2011, so for those people who were on housing benefit on 1 April the caps have not yet taken effect, because the earliest they can possibly take effect is 1 January, and then only if the anniversary of the claim was on 1 April.  In the example I have given, if the anniversary of the claim was 19 July they will not be affected until 19 April 2012 and then the reduction of the rates to the 30% percentile will kick in.  

We also have the extension of the shared accommodation rate from 1 January 2012.  The single room rent in shared accommodation will now apply to most single people aged under 35 years of age claiming housing benefit; no longer 25 as it is now, but 35.  There are one or two exceptions for those affected, for rough sleepers who have accepted support services and who have spent at least 3 months in supported hostels, and for ex-offenders who pose a serious risk of harm.  
You will see a slightly frivolous box on page 6 of the notes, entitled “Edited Highlights from the Westminster City Council website”, and this reads as follows: “If your landlord will not re-negotiate your rent, you should try to pay the shortfall from your savings or income.”  But the real sting is in the second paragraph, “If you cannot make up the shortfall in your rent and are evicted for rent arrears, there is a very good chance that you might be considered intentionally homeless.  You should do everything you can to avoid this happening.”  Which obviously means, move out of our borough to somewhere far away where you stand a chance of finding accommodation within the local housing allowance limits.  I understand that that sentence may have mysteriously disappeared now, but it may be that in due course we may come across decisions of intentional homelessness based on the applicant having failed or omitted to find affordable accommodation.  Of course, this cannot be intentional homelessness, because you are only intentionally homeless if you do or omit to do something as a result of which you cease to occupy accommodation which is or was reasonable for you to continue to occupy.  The focus is on the accommodation that you have been compelled to leave and you cannot be intentionally homeless purely for failing to obtain accommodation elsewhere.  
A brief mention of the Child Poverty Action Group’s application for judicial review of the caps on local housing allowance, Child Poverty Action Group v Secretary of State for Work and Pensions.  This was a valiant challenge by CPAG.  They argued that the caps were unlawful because, in order to prevent homelessness, levels of local housing allowance must be set by reference to local rent levels and not to a fixed tariff. In relation to the 5 bedroom rate they argued that the Secretary of State had failed to comply with the general equality duties under the Race Relations Act and the Sex Discrimination Act, which have now of course been replaced by the public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  But Mr Justice Supperstone rejected the application.  His judgment indicates that we have been deluding ourselves if we imagined that the purpose of housing benefit is to prevent homelessness. In fact, that is not so at all.  The purpose of housing benefit is to assist claimants with their rent while protecting the public purse, nothing to do with preventing homelessness, and there is no requirement for housing benefit to cover a person’s actual housing costs in any given area.  In relation to the equality duties and the restriction to a maximum 4 bedroom rate, the court found that there was in fact no duty to carry out a formal impact assessment, but in fact the Secretary of State had carried out two equality impact assessments which contained sufficient information to enable him to discharge his duty to consider the effects upon disadvantaged groups.
Moving on to eligibility, I will try and take this with as light a touch as possible bearing in mind the time and the subject matter.  First, A8 nationals.  The 7 year transitional period which obliged A8 nationals to be subject to the Workers’ Registration Scheme ceased on 1 May 2011 so A8 nationals are now treated in the same way as other EAA nationals; they no longer have to register their work in order for it to count as lawful employment.  There is just one transitional disadvantage that still affects them and I will try and summarise it briefly by saying that if they are currently not working but they are seeking to rely on Regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations to preserve their worker status and their right of residence, they cannot rely on any work done before 1 May, even if it was registered work, unless they spent a full 12 months in registered employment.  If, for example, they spent 3 months in registered employment before May, then lost the job or became incapable of working through illness, they cannot rely on that work to claim benefits or to give them a right of residence under Regulation 6.  But if they have done any work since 1 May, that work does count if they then subsequently become unemployed and they need to use Regulation 6.

There are four cases on eligibility.  In St Prix v Secretary of State for Work and Pensions, Miss St Prix was a French national who worked in various jobs for a period of almost a year.  She enrolled on a Postgraduate Certificate of Education in September 2007.  She had to leave that course because of pregnancy though, in fact, she only claimed income support for the last 2 months of her pregnancy.  She was refused income support by the DWP on the basis that she was not a worker.  Her appeal against that decision to the Upper Tribunal was dismissed and the Court of Appeal upheld that decision.  It is only where a person has ceased to work for any of the reasons in Article 7 of the Citizenship Directive, and those are broadly the same reasons that we find in Regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations, which include being temporarily incapable of work through illness or injury, would the right of residence continue.  Pregnancy was not one of those reasons.  This does not affect a woman who is on maternity leave from ongoing employment, because she will continue to be a worker, but sadly for Miss St Prix she did not have the benefit of maternity leave.  The Court of Appeal rejected the argument that the Regulations or the Article were discriminatory but, in any event, so the Court said, the Supreme Court had already accepted that discrimination on the basis of the right of residence was sanctioned by the Directive itself.  So an unfortunate decision, but one that does seem to determine a point that has been uncertain for quite some time.
Next, Ruiz Zambrano v Office National de l’emploi, on page 10 of the notes, was a case that was featured by Tony Martin in his September talk, but I think it does deserve further mention in this context.  The facts are complicated, but broadly this was a claim by Mr Ruiz Zambrano, who was a Colombian national, for a right of residence in Belgium on the basis that two of his children had been born in Belgium and were Belgium citizens, and thus were citizens of the EU member state they were living in.  Mr Zambrano had originally applied for asylum but that application had been refused.  He had worked for some time in Belgium, but eventually had to claim unemployment benefit.  He was refused because he was considered to lack a right of residence.  The European Court of Justice held that the fact that the children had been born Belgian citizens conferred on them the status of citizenship of the European Union and that carried certain rights.  A refusal of a right of residence to their parent would have meant that the children would have to follow their parents back to Colombia and would have to leave the territory of the Union.  Likewise, if a work permit were not granted to their parents, the children would not be provided for and would also have to leave.  The decision of the ECJ was that citizenship of the Union required a member state to allow third country nationals, meaning non-EU nationals, the right to reside and work where they are the parents of a child who is a national of that member state where a refusal to grant those rights would deprive the child of the genuine enjoyment of the rights of being an EU citizen.  This case has quite significant implications in terms of homeless applicants and eligibility for assistance and we have had a number of cases in which we have been successful in using arguments based on the Zambrano case and I am sure other people here have as well.  In order to use this argument effectively we need to remind yourselves of the rules of when children are born British, and in particular, when they are born in this country, what makes them British citizens?  I have tried to set out those rules on page 11.  Essentially, if one parent is either a British citizen or settled in the UK, meaning that they have indefinite or unconditional leave to remain, in this country then the child of that parent will be born British.  If the parents are unmarried you could not trace that citizenship through the father if the child was born before 1 July 2006, but if the child is born after 1 July 2006, then as long as there is proof of paternity then it does not matter if the parents are not married, and if the father is a British citizen that will be sufficient to confer British citizenship on the child.  We may find that in some of our cases our client is a non-EU national parent from, say, Colombia, or Somalia or Bangladesh, and yet, because there is a British citizen father, one or more of the children is British and that changes the landscape as far eligibility is concerned. 

Bah v United Kingdom on page 12 was a challenge to the rule under section 185(4) of the Housing Act 1996.  If you remember, that is the rule that says that if you have a non-eligible person in your household when you are applying as homeless, that person is disregarded by the local authority for the purpose of deciding whether or not you are homeless or whether you are in priority need, so that a non-eligible child cannot confer priority need upon their parent.  This was a challenge by Ms Bah to a refusal by the local authority to offer her assistance on the ground that she was not in priority need. Ms Bah was a national of Sierra Leone, who had brought her son into the country on the basis that he would have no recourse to public funds and so, of course, he was non-eligible.  Ms Bah complained that the decision to refuse her assistance was discriminatory contrary to Article 14 of the European Convention, following the change in the law in relation to British nationals and EEA nationals as a result of the decision in Morris v City of Westminster.  The Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 amended section 185 so that British citizens and EEA national applicants can rely on a non-eligible member of their household, but in such cases the authority’s duty is limited to arranging an offer of suitable private rented sector accommodation.  The non-eligible person is termed a “restricted person” and all the applicant will get is an assured shorthold tenancy for 12 months, but Ms Bah did not even get that.  However, her challenge failed.  The European Court of Human Rights held that it was justifiable for the UK to discriminate between applicants on these terms, namely between UK and EEA nationals on the one hand and people subject to immigration control on the other.  The Court held that this was a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim, and on the particular facts of the case Ms Bah had brought her son to the UK in full awareness of the `no recourse to public funds’ condition.  I think the Court may have gained the impression that there was a safety net for such applicants through the Children Act, and yet, as we know, the Children Act does not always provide a safety net in this situation.  This is what brings me to the next cases.
The next section on page 13 is one which I have called the interests of children and you may wonder why we are dealing with a couple of immigration cases here, but I hope it will soon become clear.  ZH (Tanzania) v Secretary of State for the Home Department was a case in which Ms ZH was the mother of two children aged 12 and 9.  She had been in the UK herself since 1995; she had applied for asylum 3 times and been refused.  She had what the Court described as an appalling immigration history because a couple of the applications were made on the basis of false identities and indeed on false nationalities.  But her two children, 12 and 9, were British citizens; they had a British citizen father and they had spent all their lives in the UK, and so a Home Office decision to remove their mother would mean that the children would have to accompany her to Tanzania, which was a country that they did not know, and they would be deprived of the company of one of their parents.  It was argued for Ms ZH that this would be a breach of the family’s Article 8 rights.  That argument was rejected by the Upper Tribunal and by the Court of Appeal but it was accepted by the Supreme Court, and which held that it would be unlawful to remove Ms ZH, despite her own immigration background, because this would violate the Article 8 rights of the children.  I think this is the first time that the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child has been invoked in relation to an actual decision, that is, the decision-making function, of a public authority, as opposed to the formulation of policy.  Article 3 of the Convention provides that “In all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative bodies, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration.”  What effect did that have in this context?  Well, a 'primary consideration’ is not a paramount consideration, it is not an over-riding consideration, but if there are no other extremely weighty factors to set against it, the effect of Article 3 is that the interests of the children should take priority.  In the case itself the Supreme Court said that the citizenship of the children was an important factor, so the fact that they were British citizens was important.  Children had rights of citizenship that they would not be able to exercise if they had to leave British territory. An important element is, where possible, to discover the child’s own views.  So this is obviously a very important decision. 

I will also mention another decision of a couple of weeks ago, in the case of R (on the application of Tinizaray) v Secretary of State for the Home Department.  Here, the child in question was not a British citizen; she was an Ecuadorian national.  Ms Tinizaray, the mother, was a national of Ecuador.  She came into this country illegally in 2001 and her daughter was born in 2002.  She made an application for indefinite leave to remain which was refused.  The father was not on the scene here, as he was back in Ecuador.  The daughter was an Ecuadorian national and, now aged 9, she had spent all her life in this country.  She had never been to Ecuador, she does not read or write Spanish, she has no contact with her father.  But the Secretary of State considered that she could readily adapt to life and school in Ecuador, and so she refused the application for indefinite leave to remain.  The matter came before the Administrative Court, and His Honour Judge Anthony Thornton QC, in a judgment of notable humanity, held, following ZH (Tanzania), that the child’s best interests were a primary consideration though they might be outweighed by the strength of other factors.  A child’s own views were important, as was her nationality, but in this case the judge said that the daughter was as close to being a British citizen as it was possible to be without actually having that citizenship, having spent all her life here.  She was firmly and emotionally attached to her life in the UK.  The decision-maker needed detailed information about her life in England and what her life would be like in Ecuador before a lawful decision could be made, and the information available to the Secretary of State on these points was woefully inadequate.  So the challenge was upheld, and the decision has gone back to be reconsidered.  This decision is a notable gloss on the emphasis on British citizenship that we saw in ZH (Tanzania), but one which is very much in tune with Article 3 of the Convention.  
How is all this relevant to housing and homelessness?  Well it is probably not relevant to statutory homelessness because, as we know, under the homelessness legislation the sins of the parents are visited on the children. If a parent is intentionally homeless then there is no way of placing the children’s interests against that conclusion.  So I do not think that we can argue in terms of the primary interests of the children in relation to statutory homelessness.  But we can argue very much in these terms in relation to decisions under the Children Act 1989.  We may encounter this kind of decision if a person has been found intentionally homeless or there has been a discharge of duty, and especially if the applicant has no recourse to public funds and is ineligible for assistance under the Housing Act.  So the client is seeking accommodation and subsistence under section 17 of the Children Act, and Children’s Services may say to them, well we will look after the children but we will not accommodate you, the parents, with the children, and this will make the parents abandon their application, which is of course the desired effect.  We can, now, in addition to our arguments about the welfare of the children under section 17 itself, invoke the Convention on the Rights of the Child, we cite ZH (Tanzania) and we say, how can it possibly be in the best interests of the child, which are a primary consideration, to separate the child from the parents where there is no child protection issue involved?  One would hope that those arguments would have succeeded even before ZH but now they are much more powerful.  On that particular issue we do have to deal with a baleful decision of the House of Lords in 2004, R(G) v Barnet, which does seem to provide Children’s Services with some basis for saying that it is lawful for them to accommodate the children and not the parents.  If anybody does have a case of that kind, my colleagues in the Shelter Children’s Legal Service would be pleased to hear about it in order that we might consider an Intervention.
Finally, I would just like to mention our last case on page 16, which is about houseboats.  This is a sad little case of a houseboat named Emily.  We do not often have names attached to the accommodation that our clients live in.  Emily was a converted Second World War landing craft which had once been capable of floating, but now rested on a wooden platform which was supported by wooden piles driven into the bed of the harbour on the Isle of Wight.  It had mains services, but those could easily be disconnected.  It could only be removed from the platform by a crane with a supporting cradle and it was likely to disintegrate if it was removed.  So Tristmire Ltd, who were the long leaseholders of the harbour, served a notice on Mr Mew, the owner of Emily, terminating what they said was his licence, and he argued that he had an assured tenancy.  He argued that Emily was attached to, annexed to, the land, because the concrete pillars themselves were undoubtedly attached to the land and Emily had no existence other than to rest on top of the platform which itself rested on the concrete pillars.  Sadly, the Court of Appeal held that there could only be an assured tenancy if Emily was a 'dwelling-house’, and that would only be the case if the houseboat was annexed to the land; but Emily was only a chattel which could be removed.  So poor Mr Mew only had a licence of the plot and had no defence to the claim for possession.  So I will leave you with the sad vista of Emily marooned on top of her platform, facing the inexorable march of market forces coming to remove her, and probably to obliterate her, in the interests of providing luxury chalet accommodation.  Truly a metaphor for our times.  Thank you.
Chair:  Thank you very much, John.  I will now take questions from the floor.  

Nik Nicol, 1 Pump Court:  I wanted to mention that last Wednesday the Court of Appeal had its first opportunity to consider the application of ZH Tanzania in a housing context.  The case is Friendship Care and Housing Association v Kassim & Begum.  The circumstances were that it was an anti-social behaviour possession case.  The father had been involved in drug dealing and had been sentenced to 4½ years in prison.  His elder son, who had supported his dealings, was now living somewhere else.  Another son was involved in a minor way and the wife and joint tenant had done little to stop the activities, although it was admitted she had little opportunity to do so.  The problem was that the other five children, including one who was a very disabled adult, had absolutely nothing to do with it; they were entirely innocent.  Although the trial judge made an outright possession order he also gave permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal because he wanted guidance from the Court of Appeal as to what to do about innocent children.  I suggested to the Court of Appeal that the principle one that might apply in those circumstances is the one expressed by Baroness Hale in ZH Tanzania.  The Court of Appeal did not give any guidance but neither did they suggest that the principle in ZH Tanzania did not apply; they merely said that in the circumstances of this case, although the judge had not specifically mentioned ZH Tanzania, he had made the interests of the children a primary consideration sufficient to comply with that principle therefore there was no ground for the Court of Appeal to interfere with the exercise of his discretion.  But they certainly did not reject the idea that ZH Tanzania applies and I can imagine there would be trial judges in possession cases who would be affected by the quotation of that principle in anti-social behaviour cases involving innocent children.  Obviously some cases involve children who are themselves the problem but I would have thought at the very least where the children are innocent of the anti-social behaviour that that may sway the outcome of a case. I was arguing that the order should be suspended; that there should be an order but it should be suspended.
Robert Agg, Anthony Gold Solicitors:  I have a question about Abdullah v Westminster CC.  I have always thought with this sort of case it might worth trying to argue that it is just not reasonable for her to stay so she is homeless for that reason, bearing in mind the relationship is not a happy one and there might not be space for her to sleep somewhere else.
Annette Cafferkey:  I am not sure that aspect was argued on appeal.  I think it may have been argued, from recollection, at first instance and the authority was found to have come to a lawful conclusion on that aspect.  I do not think that issue was argued on appeal at the Court of Appeal, though.  I think the Court of Appeal argument just focused very much on Section 30 of the Family Law Act and whether that applied in circumstances where one of the joint tenants was not a spouse.  So I think it was looked at first instance and the authority made a lawful decision in that case but I do not think it was argued by the Court of Appeal.  But yes, you would think that kind of argument would be perceivable in that type of circumstance; it is not reasonable to continue to occupy in those circumstances.  

Robert Agg, Anthony Gold Solicitors:  Yes, so can we take it that is not a particularly strong argument to run a not reasonable to continue to occupy in that situation?  Does that mean that trying to argue in this kind of case where it is not reasonable for her to stay; is that a fairly weak argument?

Annette Cafferkey:  No, in that particular case the actual circumstances, the ins and outs of the actual relationship between the husband and wife there is not a huge amount of detail but I think in the right circumstances it would be pursuable, yes.  

Chair:  If there are no further questions I would like to thank both our speakers this evening for their very comprehensive and informative talks.  I will now move on to the Information Exchange which is the part of the meeting when you tell us about your interesting cases and other developments.  

Tony Martin, Merton Law Centre:  I wanted to start by posing a question which is what are people doing in practical terms about the restriction on experts’ fees under legal aid, particularly in disrepair claims.  It is a subject of quite a debate in the Law Centre about how do we get around the £50 an hour limit on surveyors’ fees in particular and whether anyone has had any success in applying for exceptional circumstances or other ways around the cap?

Vivien Gambling, Lambeth Law Centre:  I cannot answer Tony’s question; I am struggling with the file on my desk trying to work out what to do and I suspect other people might be as well so if anybody has got anything which more directly answers Tony’s question that would be helpful.  What I can say is that I have been pursuing the issue about experts’ fees for a little while and trying to press the Legal Services Commission to explain where their rate of £50 an hour comes from.  In September the Legal Services Commission agreed that they would provide the data on which the rate of £50 per hour was based.  Two days ago, having spent two months raiding their data banks they finally admitted that they did not have any data on which the rate was based and they said, “maybe we should have a meeting about it”, to which I said, “yes, that would be a very good idea.”  So they are holding a meeting on Monday; I will be going there primarily for HLPA and there will be some other practitioners from other areas of law, like mental health, etc.  We did ask whether we could invite any experts or expert representative bodies, to which the answer was no.  There was to be a wider meeting with experts groups originally planned for Monday 21 November but that was cancelled given the pending litigation.  I do not know much about the pending litigation but I have seen a document circulated where a group of experts was looking for funding or contributions to funding for a possible judicial review in relation to experts’ fees.  So maybe there is some sort of scope for change but the problem is that there is the cost funding order that is an order made by a Minister and I am not quite sure how quickly that could be altered, if indeed there was a willingness to do it.  But we have achieved something in an admission that basically the figure has been plucked out of the air, as we all suspected, and that they are at least agreeing to meet and discuss it.

Contributor:  I understand that some experts are prepared to continue to produce reports at the new rate.
Chair:  My understanding is that the Health and Housing Group says that they will not be prepared to continue to do reports at that rate.  What they may be prepared to do is to do an abbreviated report which will not include photographs or any detailed schedules but will confirm whether or not a property suffers from Section 11 disrepair and cover some brief details but there will not be the same level of detail or the same schedule.  But there are a number of other experts who have confirmed that they will continue to work at the rates currently set by the Commission.

David Watkinson, Garden Court Chambers:  I have two consultation papers, one Act and one Bill to report on.  On the consultation papers you will remember at our last meeting I referred to the consultation paper on a new mandatory power of possession for anti-social behaviour; that was the proposal in relation to the discretionary ground for anti-social behaviour to extend the scope of the anti-social behaviour from the locality of the tenant to the whole of the United Kingdom and to propose new mandatory grounds.  That consultation concluded on 7 November.  Our response went in; you can imagine what it said.  I am grateful particularly to Annabel Kennedy who provided me with probably half of the material which went into the response and also to the others who sent me information after a summary of the proposals went out on the website.  Now I was also sent the response of the Metropolitan Housing Partnership which is an umbrella for a number of housing associations, including the Metropolitan Housing Trust and the Genesis Group.  And the MHT opposed the proposals and it did so on the straightforward basis that it did not see why housing associations should act as policemen for the police authorities or for the Government.    

The second consultation paper was from the Ministry of Justice on options for dealing with squatting.  Now, again our response went in and that was on 5 October.  On 21 October the Government produced its response to the consultation and in that it set out a table of the responses that it had received; it had received 2,200 odd responses, 2,126 of which were described as coming from members of the public concerned about the impact of criminalising squatting.  So in its response the Ministry of Justice recognised the statistical weight of responses was therefore against taking any action on squatting but continued that the MOD has taken a qualitative rather than a quantitative approach because 1,990 were received in support of a campaign organised by the Squatters Action for Secure Homes; that was 90% of the responses that were received.  The Government has decided to go ahead with a criminal trespass offence which was proposed the same day and has gone into the Legal Aid Bill.  So consider the logic of this; if the Government makes a proposal to which you are opposed do not join a campaign or express any support for a campaign against it; instead join a campaign which is for it and send in your responses which are for it.  Applying this logic, the Government will be bound not to go ahead with that proposal.  So the proposal is for a criminal trespass offence and the constituents of the offence are that the person is in a residential building as a trespasser having entered it as a trespasser; the person knows or ought to know he/she is a trespasser; the person is living in the building or intends to live there for any period.  Not committed by a person holding over after the end of a lease or a licence.  That has gone into the Legal Aid Bill which has now arrived in the House of Lords and its Second Reading is due on 21 November.  
So the last is the Act, indeed the Localism Act, as we now have it; Royal Assent yesterday.  It contains all those provisions that I referred to at the conference last December so we have got flexible tenancies, we have got relaxation of the allocation provisions, we have got discharge of homelessness duty by an offer in the private sector and no right to refuse that.  Just two things, first of all in relation to the last, I have been told that the Government is proposing to put out for consultation a suitability order and that, on the draft that I have seen, will confine fairly tightly the conditions of the accommodation in the private sector which is offered in discharge of the homelessness duty.  So that, I am told, is going to go for consultation so there is more to play for there.  The second point on the Localism Act is that you may recall me referring to the removal of direct access to the Housing Ombudsman when the Bill was first introduced.  Late Government amendments have backtracked on that.  What we now have, you will recall the channel for complaints to the Housing Ombudsman by social housing tenants was to be confined to MP, counsellor or a landlord appointed tenants’ panel.  What is now in the Act is that direct access is retained if the tenant has gone through the social landlord’s complaints procedure and 8 weeks have elapsed since that procedure concluded.  Secondly, there is still direct access if you have made your complaint to the MP, counsellor or tenants’ panel and they have refused to pass on the complaint; then you can go to the Housing Ombudsman.  

Robert Latham, Doughty Street Chambers:  Can I just update you from the Bar perspective?  Firstly on the CLS funding order which we have discussed with regard to the fees for experts; barristers here may have seen schedule 7 which imposes proscribed fees for counsel which seems to be premised on the basis that no barrister of more than 10 years appears in the County Court and no barrister of less than 10 years appears in the High Court.  When we pointed out that this was somewhat inconsistent they did propose an amendment order whereby junior counsel, counsel of less than 10 years, would be paid less in the High Court than appearing in the County Court and we have pointed out that this is somewhat irrational.  We had a meeting last week to try and get the LSC to come up with their figures and they are playing hard ball but they did indicate that if the Bar responded to them by 24 November they could consult on proposed amendments in an amendment order and introduce it in the new year.  In view of our response, we are trying to kick this into grass so it may well be that experts want to take a different view.

Secondly, can I say a bit more about the Legal Aid Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Bill which, as you probably know, has now passed to the Lords and there is the Second Reading in the Lords on Monday?  As David mentioned, on the final occasion in the Commons on 3 November not only was the new offence of squatting in a residential building introduced but also rules against referral fees to make it wrong to have referral fees in personal injury cases, so there may well be a case for HLPA to lobby for a campaign to extend to referral fees in housing cases.  I do not know whether claim farmers are still a problem but if they are there may be a case to do that.  As far as the Bill in the Commons was concerned, members may be aware that the Government did concede modest amendments broadening the counter-claims which can be brought in possession proceedings and also broadening the claims which can be brought for unlawful eviction.  Also in respect of paragraph 30 of schedule 1, in disrepair cases where there is a risk to health or safety in rented homes, it extends beyond contract to breach of statutory duty but the only amendments which have been made is when the Government has conceded that they have got it wrong.  I think there is a feeling that there is scope for modest amendments in the Lords and I think that what we do need to do as an Association is try and identify key cross-benchers because it is generally recognised that if Labour merely pushes for amendments they are going to get nowhere.  There needs to be a broad based campaign and to try and get the Bar to move beyond its obsession with crime and family into civil cases, we do need to identify the key amendments we need to push and the key peers we can lobby and certainly my view is that we need to shore up the telephone gateway so it can not be used as a block to face-to-face advice in the appropriate case.  On exceptional funding where cases are out of scope, if there is an appeal which raises a complex point of law or point of general public importance there should be exceptional funding for those cases.  Thirdly, we should oppose the cherry-picking which is being adopted in respect of Jackson. But I think we all ought to think about our key four or five amendments and, as an Association, we should probably work with the Access to Justice campaign because I suspect our ability to do a further lobbying campaign on our own is limited, whereas through the Access to Justice campaign, which is backed by Shelter, there is some scope if we are modest in our objectives. 

Deirdre Forster, Powell Forster Solicitors:  I want to report on the Jackson reforms.  I attended a meeting on 31 October on behalf of HLPA.  It was a Civil Justice Council Working Group; they have been working very busily without HLPA representatives over the summer even though there has been a representative of the local authority on behalf of housing cases.  As a result of lobbying by HLPA they finally agreed that for their final report someone could attend so I did.  I did manage to make the point that some of the difficulties they were having, for example, on proportionality of costs in relation to specific performance, could perhaps have been resolved if they had had a HLPA representative there and, as a result, they did agree to a meeting between HLPA representatives and the Chair of the Working Group so Vivien and I met the Chair on Monday.  Basically, the whole thing is now going back to the Ministry of Justice who are to suggest civil procedure rules to enact the detail of Jackson.  It is possible, and I would not want to raise anybody’s hopes, but it is possible that we might be able to make the Ministry of Justice look again at the fact that qualified one-way costs shifting, in other words cost protection, for claimants at the moment is only being brought in for personal injury claimants and not for housing.  We are going to concentrate our efforts, if we can, on asking them to look at that again and we are also going to make points on proportionality and on Part 36, which are the three outstanding issues.  I do not hold out very much hope, given the way the Government is but we are going to do our best.
Chair:  Thank you very much.  Our next meeting will be on Wednesday 18 January 2012 and the topic will be the Localism Act which has, as Annette said, received the Royal Assent yesterday.  So it just remains for me to say thank you once again to both our speakers and to our contributors tonight and I look forward to seeing you all at the conference on 14 December.  
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